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To BARBARA, BERNARD and JOSEPHINE

Prologue

THE SUN beat mercilessly down on the concrete launching pads at Mildenhall. The DSP 15 stood alone,
glinting in the light of high noon. The apron around the ship was a hive of activity as the countdown drew
to a close.

Best of luck, Fanshawe,' said John Fielding, the scientific leader of the project. "When you return I shall
have aged much more than you.'

'If your bally refrigerator works properly, Fielding,' replied the ship's Commander. can't quite see myself
doing a recce in Ursa Major with a crew of Abominable Snowmen: He turned to his crew. "Right-ho,
chaps, off we go. I'll tuck you up in the ice-box when we're on course.'

He held out his hand to Fielding. 'Don't look so worried. We really have absolute faith in the whole
machine, so you'd better start looking to that jolly old beacon of yours, and make lots of toddy when you
get our re-entry signals. We shall need it: John Fielding smiled and they shook hands.

Tubby Fanshawe moved towards the lift. Suddenly he stopped, and looked hard at a young blushing red-
haired - space cadet. 'Ganges! 'Pon my soul, what's the Space Corps coming to? You must have concealed
your batting averages.'

"Good luck, Fanshawe. I'm not supposed to be here, but couldn't resist seeing you off.' The young man
beamed with pleasure at being recognized in the crowd.

"All the best to you, laddie,' said Fanshawe. 'Don't let the Generals grind you down.' With a last wave to
the small crowd that had gathered, he climbed into the lift and was whisked to the crew's cabin at the nose
of the ship.

Fifteen minutes later the rocket rose in a cloud of oxygen gas, exhaust flames and concrete dust, slowly
tilting on its course for Ursa Major, and a page in history.



ONE

I'M not a great one for scientific conferences. This one had been particularly time-wasting, but as the
plane left the - ground the boredom of the last few days vanished. I settled back thankfully to think of
more important problems. "Hello, Dick,' came an American voice. I turned round to see Dave Swan
Vespa, one of the top news reporters for N.B.C. International Television Company.

"How's your research project going?' he inquired. "Too slowly,' I replied grumpily.

‘Haven't you fellows got it working yet?' Dave grinned broadly. I grinned back and said nothing.

“See you soon, then.'

He moved off down the gangway. Dave's remark stirred up my irritation at the slow progress on the
International radio transmitter. The idea was a good one.

Started two years ago by the International Space Exploration Committee, it came after thirty years of
almost total inactivity. Loss of exploratory ships in the early 1980s had led to a halt in deep space probes.
The only work with space ships nowadays was in the defense of our planet and its environment. Now new
life had been injected into space research with the building of this gigantic radio transmitter. Messages
would be sent deep into space in the hope that someone somewhere would pick up our signals and
transmit an answer back. My part in all this research was to develop a new form of radar valve. The whole
program was being almost defeated by insufficient money from disinterested governments. Despite this
handicap the scientists kept their research work going as best they could.

When we landed, the usual English weather prevailed, which gave the airport an almost forlorn look in
comparison with the bright sunlight of Los Angeles. I went by tube to the Hempstead Heliport, where |
was just in time to catch the helicopter taxi to Cambridge.

I climbed in beside the driver. He picked up his punch cards, and selecting the Cambridge one pushed it
into the reader. This meant information was fed to the central transport computer which would work out
the best possible route, height and speed for the journey. All this information would then be passed to our
destination so that, once we were in the air, automatic homing devices would take over and whisk us to
our destination without traffic jams or accidents. The police have their own link-up with this computer. It
greatly helps in crime detection, but I feel it is an infringement of individual liberty.

A few seconds later a green light appeared on the control panel. The driver fired up the small rocket
motors and we lifted into the air, rising vertically until picked up by the homing frequency. The great
advantage of the jet against the conventional motor is the smoothness it offers as well as a slight increase
in reliability.

It was a clear night, with the stars getting brighter the higher we went. With a light jolt the helicopter
stopped rising and moved off in a forward direction.

All was quiet at the Cambridge terminal. My watch showed eleven in the morning. I turned it back eight
hours, the time difference between California and London. It was now 3 a.m.

Dawn was starting to come up as I reached the rear gates of St John's College and inserted the old-
fashioned key in the lock. The college authorities still hadn't turned over to the new computerized key
systems. The metal tumblers clicked away, and I pushed the heavy wrought iron gates open. Locking
them behind me, I made my way to my rooms.

When I opened the door, a strong smell of polish and fresh air hit me; my bed maker had obviously had a
spring clean while I'd been away. I walked to my desk, just to make sure that my papers were still there,
and not in the waste basket, but they were safe. My traveling had made me hungry, so I descended to the
kitchenette.



Taking a packet of dehydrated eggs and bacon, I made myself a delicious pan of food. Back m the living-
room, | flicked through the television channels until I found a good old film about the Wild West of
America in the eighteen-thirties, and settled down before the screen, but the covered wagons and Indians
suddenly vanished and the newscaster's face appeared on the screen:

"We interrupt our program with an important announcement from World Space Headquarters. The
spaceship DSP 15 has been picked up on its way back to Earth. Older viewers will recall that, almost
thirty years ago to the day, this ship was sent out on a mission to the stars of the Ursa Major stream. . . .
We have more important news about the DSP 15: it's going to land here in Britain! Stand by for further
announcements, and now back to our film.

The film continued, but I was no longer interested. For a moment the news stunned me. Then the phone
went. I rushed over to the desk and flicked the switch. A small TV screen on the wall flickered and the
picture and sound came.

It was Ganges, a high-ranking officer at the space drome at Mildenhall, a few miles to the east of
Cambridge.

"Thank God you're back,' he said, before I could speak. "Have you heard the news?'

"Yes, just. What on earth do you make of it?'

‘I daren't think. . . . It's going to land here . . . and soon. . . .' Then Ganges' urgency turned to irony. '"That
damned military computer can't find the coding instructions for opening it up.'

“You mean they're mislaid?' I said in disbelief.

"That's about it,' Ganges said candidly. His harassed voice continued, 'Can't get through to Sir John. It's
imperative we contact him. He may have the files and we need him here.'

"All right. T'll go now. How long before you expect it?'

"An hour or so . . .' Ganges was about to add to this, but I just nodded as I switched him off.

I hurried out of my rooms and quickly descended the old stone staircase and out into the court. It wasn't
far to where Sir John Fielding lived in a lovely old mill-house on the river. He'd resisted all persuasion
from the local housing authorities and Senate House committee of the University to move. They wanted
the house as a museum.

A sharp walk along the river bank brought me to Sir John's. I trod firmly on the door -mat. A bell rang
somewhere inside. Nothing happened, so I pressed urgently again. After a few minutes of standing with
mounting impatience in the early morning half-light, I heard the latch click and the door swung in. With
immense relief [ saw it was Sir John.

‘I'm sorry to get you out of bed, Sir John,' I began rather stupidly.

'Why do it?' he" said sleepily.

“The DSP 15 is coming into Mildenhall. . . .

The sleepy eyes opened wide. He was instantly alert. *Come in.' He led me quickly into his study.

"This is quite fantastic, quite fantastic,' said Sir John,

looking shaken. 'Coming in!'

"Yes, in about an hour. Ganges rang me up. They're in great trouble. They have no landing instructions. I
think Ganges was wondering . .

"What, Dick, what? That I might remember the code? Good God. What sort of memory do they think I've
got -- an elephant's? I don't even know where to start looking,' Sir John exploded, getting up and going
over to his old filing cabinets. 'Let's get on with it.'

"Try that cabinet there,' he said briskly. 'T'll take this one. Red and green files all marked DSP 15/UM.'



It was nerve-racking trying not to panic. The papers were endless and not in order. Time was so short but
I dared not think about it. Sir John was calmly, methodically thumbing through filing drawers, but his
face was a grey mask of anxiety. Then unbelievably I found files marked DSP 15/UM. I gave them to Sir
John.

"Are these the ones?'

He took them quietly. 'Good, good,' he said, quickly shuffling through them. 'Yes, these are they; not that
one; that's injector system, this one's reactor details. Hmm.

Interesting. All! here we are, carrier frequencies-pulse lengths 39.37 megacycles. This is it. We'll have the
ship down safely and the crew out in a trice.' Sir John beamed happily.

*Come and talk to me while I quickly put some clothes on.'

While he was hurriedly dressing I asked him: 'Why 39.37 megacycles?'

"Number of inches in a meter," he replied. 'Sort of technical joke, forgotten the point of it now.'

I let it pass. "What equipment will you need?'

"Nothing unusual. Amplitude modulation, frequency modulation, pulsing and so forth, all straight forward
stuff.’

He finished dressing and was off downstairs at a speed Which astonished me. When I reached the hall he
was nowhere to be seen, but noises led me to the kitchen. He had a Thermos flask ready, a kettle about to
boil and was stirring an amber fluid with sugar in a glass jug. Nearby was a sliced lemon.

"What on earth is that?' I asked.

"Hot toddy," he twinkled.

TWO

'ALL ready," he said, filling the Thermos.

Why is it coming into Mildenhall?' I asked, tightly holding on to the bundles of files.

'Oh, it's a long story. The ships fly on automatic pilot along a radio beam sent out from Earth. They have
to, because the crew is all tucked away in the deep freeze containers to prevent serious ageing during long
journeys.'

We moved out of the house. "Well, when the ships didn't come back,' Sir John continued, 'and we'd
completely lost contact with them, some people at headquarters thought there was little point in
continuing the radio beams. The British representative fortunately didn't agree, and there was an argument
about it. The result was that we here in Britain were given the job of maintaining the beams. Everyone
else said it was a hopeless task, but it doesn't look that way now.'

I nodded, remembering the special building at Mildenhall for the beams. I'd done some work there when I
was a student and had been told about them.

We walked on to the patio where a small helicopter stood, given to Sir John by one of the large aviation
companies.

'Do you mind driving? I want to look at these,' Sir John said. He became deeply engrossed in the contents
of one of the files as we took off.

On the outskirts of Cambridge there were a couple of police patrol helicopters. As we approached them
our air speed began to reduce.

"What's wrong?' my companion asked, looking up from his work.



The police had obviously been told to stop us as they were indicating that I should take the helicopter
down to the ground.

"What do you want?' shouted Sir John from his side of the helicopter. The police went on signaling us to
descend.

"We've no option,' I said, taking the helicopter down. "Damned idiots. We're in a hurry.' Sir John was
beginning to get annoyed.

Down on the ground the police turned on powerful arc lights.

"All right, gentlemen. Why are you going to Mildenhall?' said one of the men in a challenging voice,
leaning in through my side.

"They need me,' said Sir John crossly. *And who might you be?" said the officer.

"This is Sir John Fielding. One of the original designers of the DSP 15 which is coming in to land at
Mildenhall.'

"He may be, but you've got no clearance from Mildenhall.' The officer shrugged his shoulders. 'No luck,
gentlemen.'

'l suggest you call Colonel Ganges at Mildenhall before you ground us, officer,' said Sir John in a cold
even voice. "And for God's sake, hurry!'

“Colonel Ganges. Eh! We'll see,' said the officer, trying to be sure of himself, but not quite knowing what
to do. "Get a Colonel Ganges at Mildenhall, will you?" he said to one of his men.

Sir John sat silently simmering, ready to explode.

‘That's typical of Ganges,' Sir John said suddenly. 'He's so good at cutting red tape he's forgotten his own
security arrangements and barred the only men who can help him.' Sir John smiled and leaned out of the
window. He was about to say something when one of the policemen called.

"Colonel Ganges, sir.'

‘Colonel Ganges. This is Sergeant Richards, Cambridge City Police. I've got a Sir John Fielding, a ...
His sentence was cut short. 'But Colonel . . He tried to get a word in edgeways. Finally he handed the
radio mike back. 'l must apologize, Sir John,' said the man.

"Quite all right, officer. Quite all right. It's not your fault.'

'"Thank you, sir. We'll escort you to the space drome.' "Good,' Sir John said briskly, and off we went.
Now, with top priority, we went at a breath-taking speed.

A mile or two before we reached the space drome I could see a monumental amount of activity. Our
police escort started to hedge-hop, so down I went and followed them. Obviously all the official flight
paths had gone to the military. Suddenly the police put down on the ground and I followed suit.

‘It's absolute bedlam farther in,' the officer said, coming up to Sir John's window. 'Is there anything we
can do?'

"Yes, just see that we get to Colonel Ganges as quickly as possible,' Sir John said, closing the file and
climbing out.

We started hurrying across the field.

‘There it is,' Sir John suddenly said, pointing to a shining needle sitting on the landing pad about a quarter
of a mile away. It looked very small and thin in comparison with the large military ships dotted around the
space drome. We stood in silence for a moment or two. I could feel Sir John's excitement. It was thirty
years since he had last seen this ship, and it had been given up for lost by nearly everyone. Then he set off
at a cracking pace across the acres of concrete. I almost had to run to keep up until he halted at the
military cordon.

*Sir John Fielding and party,' said Sir John.

“Just one moment,' said the M.P. "Sarge,' the M.P. yelled over his shoulder. 'A Sir John Fielding and

party.'



The sergeant came over. 'Sir John,' he said, looking down a long list. 'Yes, here we are.'

‘Dr Richard Warboys,' Sir John said, pointing at me.

‘Dr Warboys, yes,' said the sergeant, ticking his list, and beckoning us through without looking up.

Near the rocket stood Ganges and some medics.

"Ah, Sir John,' said Ganges, uneasily. 'Sorry about the nonsense with the police. My stupid secretary. Silly
fellow.'

‘Damn your security and your filing system,' Sir John said, but without much heat. One of the medics
came over.

‘I'd like to get those men out as soon as possible, Sir John,' he said.

‘I understand,' said Sir John quietly. 'Just give me a few minutes, a few minutes.'

“Can't see it matters to a few hours. Been frozen for donkey's years,' said Ganges in his usual bluff,
tactless way.

"Of course it matters, Colonel,' said the doctor angrily. "If we don't get in there very soon, those men are
as good as dead. The shock of landing on hard frozen living material can be extremely severe.' The doctor
was very agitated. Ganges on the other hand looked amazed at the doctor's outburst.

‘Matter of urgency,' said Ganges, a little bleakly. 'Knew Tubby Fanshawe well. At school together.'
Fanshawe,' said the doctor in surprise.

“Chief Pilot, doctor,' said Ganges, pointing a large porky finger at the ship. 'In there. Great spin bowler.
Leg breaks and googlies." Ganges then screwed himself up into a distorted version of a spin bowler's
action. I had to smile, but I knew this fooling was Ganges' way of hiding his true feelings.

An army engineer appeared out of a large radio hover truck, walked over to us, saluted smartly and said:
‘I'm afraid we can't do anything, Doc.'

"Colonel Ganges, this is quite intolerable. I can't be responsible for the lives of those men in there,' the
doctor said.

‘Dick,' Sir John said quickly. 'T've got it now.'

"What's that, Sir John?' said Ganges.

"We're just going to open the doors,' Sir John said, making his way over to the radio truck.

As I walked to the truck, I heard Ganges say: 'Doors need opening. Boffins. Amazin' fellas!" He followed
us to the truck and looked in at the engineers and myself.

"Would you like help?'

"I think we'll make it,' I said, understanding how he felt.

Sir John nodded his agreement. Ganges still poked his head over Sir John's shoulder hesitantly and would
probably have persisted but someone told him television reporters had got through the military cordon and
he was off like a shot. God help them, I thought.

“First,' said Sir John's voice bringing me back to the problem in hand. 'l want a carrier at 174 megacycles.
Then pulse it at 1 KC. pulse length 5 micro-seconds.'

“Carrier at 174 megacycles,' I said, moving a small dial.

Pulse 1 KC. length 5 micro-seconds.' I changed over to another circuit. A pulse came and settled down,
allowing me to set the pulse length at 5 micro-seconds.

"All right,' I said to an engineer standing close by. "Just check everything for me.'

The man ran through the check list.

‘Secondly,' Sir John said when the engineer signaled that everything was satisfactory, 'l want a separate
transmission on 39.37 megacycles frequency modulated, amplitude 5 decibels below the first
transmission.'

"Frequency modulation,' I blurted aloud. Sir John looked a bit irritated.

"We've still to key in the final numerical combination. This is done on the frequency modulation.'



I would have queried this type of operation, but there were more important things to do. 'Have you a key?'
I asked one of the engineers.

"No, but we'll fix one up in a moment or two, sir,' said the poor engineer, who was obviously terrified of
making a mistake.

"Check frequency,' I said, turning back to the dials in front of me.

'0.K.," came the reply.

*Amplitude ratio?'

‘'O.K!

‘Key plugged in?'

"All ready, sir.'

‘Right, Sir John. What's the code number?' I said, trying to emulate his steadiness. More than thirty years
had elapsed since the crew in the rocket had left the earth, now we were on the threshold of seeing and
hearing what they had seen and done.

"137131929,' said Sir John in triumph.

"What system?' I asked.

"Old fashioned Morse.'

"137131929 in old fashioned Morse,' I said to the engineer. He looked aghast for a moment and then went
to work. I tried to look encouraging.

The engineer worked on. I could see beads of sweat on his forehead. My hands felt damp, as I listened to
the sound of the digits being keyed in.

1...3...7...1...3...1...9...2...9

Then silence. It was almost agony waiting. Everyone must have been thinking the same thought. What
happens if the systems jammed or something was damaged after such a long flight? We waited.

Then, as we held our breath, there was a satisfying click and deep rumble. I went to the door of the truck
and stood with Sir John watching. The large doors up on the ship slowly began to open. We had
succeeded. I felt Sir John relax. The strain for him must have been quite enormous; for even I felt drained
of physical energy.

Two of the ground staff climbed on board a lift and drove it over to the side of the ship. For a moment or
two they remained at the bottom, and then they pressed the button and went up. They vanished inside.
Soon one of them returned to the doors of the rocket and signaled.

The medics were the first to the lift, with Ganges, Sir John and myself a long way behind.

"Remember Tubby Fanshawe scoring a cracking good 50 -- school cricket, if you know what I mean.
Now frozen solid. Damn' amazing!' said Ganges, waiting impatiently for the lift to return.

The lift came down slowly. As we went up I realized how small this ship really was. The main doors,
which were very near the top of the craft, would only come about half-way up one of the machines
standing close by.

Amazing, | thought to myself, as we passed in through the doors, no airlock, and there would be no
gravitational field inside the ship as we had today. The passage from the opening led straight into the
cabin, the only cabin, which was used for everything, and in one half of the cabin was the freezer. A sort
of cylinder-shaped cubicle with a large deep-freeze-type door. I left everyone to get on with opening it up
and had a quick look round the rest of the cabin. A long console seemed to house most of the equipment.
A museum-piece computer punch card machine, hand stabilizing equipment for adjusting the flight of the



ship. It was a remarkable feat, to go out to Ursa Major with a small ship like this. Even my lab in
Cambridge was better equipped, I thought, picking up a small drill.

"There's something seriously wrong,' I suddenly heard the doctor saying.

"What?' Sir John asked anxiously.

"The temperature is much too high.'

I went over to where the doctor and his medics stood. Ganges followed me over.

"Look at this, Sir John,' said the doctor, indicating the temperature gauge.

"What does the freezer normally operate at?' asked Sir John, tapping the instrument like a barometer on
the wall.

‘Nowadays we'd operate at about minus 50° centigrade.

I don't know precisely what the practice was thirty years

ago, but it couldn't have been much different,' said the doctor, thoughtfully.

Sir John studied the dial. "This gauge shows a temperature of about zero,' he said.

‘Exactly, it's at thawing temperature.'

Curiosity got the better of me and I looked over a number of shoulders at the dial. It did indeed show a
temperature of zero. 'Perhaps the automatic defrosters have worked,' I said.

"We can soon check on that,' said Sir John, moving, file in hand, over to the main control panel. "You're
right, Dick. That's what has happened,' he said, making his way back to the group.

We all stood in silence.

‘I'm afraid the men's fate is pretty clear,' the doctor said; after a minute.

‘Dead,' said Sir John quietly.

‘I'm afraid so. Otherwise they'd have woken up by now. I'll have a look inside.' He started to open the
large freezer door.

"This isn't my line of country. If you don't mind, I'll withdraw.'

"That would be best, Sir John. It won't be a pleasant job.'

Sir John and I moved away, followed by Ganges, who looked desperately glum. One could feel what he
was thinking. It is never pleasant to learn that an old school pal has died. The medics were having a job to
get the door open. A morbid thought crossed my mind. How long had the freezing chamber been thawed?
Sir John gently placed his Thermos on the control desk. He looked spent.

After much effort the heavy door swung open and the doctor went in. There was a moment's quiet and
then he suddenly reappeared at the door. 'Hey. Just a minute, come and have a look in here.'

Ganges was the first across, followed closely by Sir John. I was a little hesitant, but followed them in,
curiosity getting the better of me again. It reminded me of a mortuary in a hospital. Bleak, bare and cold,
even though the temperature was above freezing. We went to the point where the crew should be in their
containers.

‘Great heavens, it's empty!' Sir John said, lifting one of the lids.

I opened another one and it was also empty; in fact so were they all.

‘I don't understand,’ I said. 'How could the ship have been started back to earth without a crew?'

"An interesting question,’ Ganges said, squeezing his way out of the freezer. 'There must be a log-book
somewhere.

Sir John moved to a cabinet near the entrance and pulled open the drawers. 'That's very strange.'
"Nothing at all,' said Ganges, coming back to the middle of the cabin.

"This is ridiculous. The cabinet should be full of ship's data like this," Sir John said, waving the files he
was carrying.

The problem of a ship with no crew and no papers was staggering. We all stood for a moment looking
about not quite knowing what to do.



I moved round the cabin. Looking for what, I wasn't sure. I pressed the button on a tape manual deck.
Nothing but high level static. Turning it off, I wondered how long it would take to sift through the
information on the computer.

Anything on the tape?' Sir John said, joining me. ‘Nothing, just static.'

Sir John frowned, deep in thought. I felt at a loss.

"What would the crew be doing with a drill like this?' I asked Sir John, holding up the tool I had been
playing with earlier.

‘It looks like part of the doctor's equipment,’ Sir John said.

"They carried a doctor with them?' said Ganges. "Oh, yes. The drill looks like a dentist's drill.' *So it can
cut through fairly hard material?'

*I suppose so, but what are you driving at?'

Taking the drill from Sir John, I showed him the cutting edge. 'l thought it might have been used to cut a
message on the metal.' I started moving my hands over all metal surfaces. The others did the same.

It took me about five minutes to find it. The maddening thing was that the engraving was right under
where I'd found the instrument.

‘I think this is what we've been looking for.'

I took my pen and scratched it over the markings. "That's Fanshawe's signature,' said Sir John. 'Ganges,
come here a moment.'

Ganges was already looking over Sir John's shoulder. "Can you remember what Fanshawe's signature
looked like?' I said.

‘I think I can,' said Ganges peering hard. 'Yes, that's it. What was he doing?'

I went on covering the area with the black ink. We all read the message at the same time. I don't know
what their reaction was, but I certainly felt very strange.

IF THIS SHIP RETURNS TO EARTH, THEN MANKIND IS IN DEADLY PERIL.
GOD HELP YOU.
FANSHAWE.

THREE

It was a macabre situation. No one offered a comment. It was too unreal, uncanny, spine chilling.

The doctor was the first to move.

'If I'm wanted I'll be over at control,' he said as he led his men out of the cabin.

Ganges waited for them to go. 'Can't make it out. What kind of situation could Tubby Fanshawe have got
into?'

"Whatever it was, it's serious and sinister,' Sir John said somberly.

We all made our way to the lift. Below were a large number of people.

'Ruddy press,' Ganges mumbled under his breath.

I wondered how he would handle the battery of TV cameras and reporters.

The lift came to a halt. The men and women in front of us moved forward. Military police advanced to
clear a path.

'Colonel Ganges. Have you a comment?' said a man holding a microphone close to us.



'Yes,' Ganges replied. 'Get yourself and your gear back to the main building and wait for a press
announcement. Sergeant Major?'

'Sir.!

'Cordon off this ship -- top security. Report to me if my of the press crosses the boundary and I'll do the
rest.’

The crowd parted and allowed us through. Everyone was subdued.

'T'll get on to the Minister of Defense, and see what kind of press release we'll put out,’ Ganges said and
moved in the direction of the control building. 'T'll be in touch.'

Sir John and I walked off towards the helicopter. Running footsteps behind us made him increase his
pace.

*Sir John, was there something wrong with the ship's equipment?' came a voice from alongside us.

'As you heard, you'll have to wait until there's an official press release,' Sir John said, turning on his
questioner.

‘But Sir John, if it wasn't the equipment, how did the men die?'

Flash bulbs popped. Sir John turned on his heel. The press men followed us. I caught hold of the reporter
who'd been asking questions. We stopped, allowing Sir John to get to the helicopter.

Before I could speak the M.P.'s were around us and the reporter moved for an uncomfortable interview
with Ganges.

I climbed into the helicopter.

"Thank you, Dick. It could be very tricky if they found out that the ship's empty.'

'Well, Ganges knows his job and they won't be told anything they're not supposed to know.' I slotted the
card into the reader. The green light came on and off we went.

After a very quiet ride back, the helicopter started to home in on Six John's residence. I kept the blip in the
middle of the scope and we were soon down.

'Is there anything I can do?'

'No, not yet,' Sir John said with a tired smile. 'T'll give you a call if anything comes up.'

'Fine. I'll just stroll back to college; it looks as though it might be a fine morning.'

'Hum. By the way, if you should get any press . . 'Don't worry. I don't know anything,' I said, and made
my way to the side entrance.

The summer mist was lying lightly on the river, and the early sun was catching the massive exteriors of
the colleges. It was a strange discord that on such a beautiful morning there should be the nightmare
aspect of the DSP 15 weighing heavily on our minds. My watch showed 08.15; breakfast in Hall wouldn't
be until 08.30. I decided I'd go back to my rooms until around 09.00; by that time most of the college
would have had their meal, I'd be able to have mine in peace.

But when I opened the door to my room, the phone was buzzing away imperiously.

‘Hello, Dick,' said Sir John. 'The Minister of Defense has called an emergency meeting for ten-thirty this
morning. I told the secretary that I would like to bring you along and he agreed. I'm off now to get one or
two preliminaries worked out.'

‘Fine. I'll be there, but why do you want me?' 'I think they'll be wanting your radar valve.'

'My valve, but it's only in the experimental stage?' 'Certainly, but time may be pressing. So be at the
Ministry of Defense at 10.30 a.m.'

'0.K. Where do I go when I get there?'

'Room two,' said Sir John, vanishing from the screen.

Why on earth might they need my valve? What was to be gained at this stage by its use in a radio or radar
system? I made myself a cup of coffee and went over to my desk. A few minutes of rummaging through



one of the drawers and I found the necessary data. Putting it into my brief-case, I looked up the list of the
helicopter services running from Cambridge to London. Once every quarter of an hour, which meant I
could either catch the 09.30 or, at a pinch, the 09.45.

A shower, shave and change of clothes made me feel better. By the time I'd finished I was running late.
The gate at the Heliport for the 09.30 to London was closed, but I caught the 09.45 and arrived at the
Hampstead terminal around 10.15. I rushed out of the arrival building to find a taxi.

‘If you're waiting for a taxi, I don't think you'll have much luck as I've been here fifteen minutes,' said a
man sitting dejectedly at the head of the taxi queue.

‘Thanks,' I said, going back into the building and making my way to the Underground.

The Houses of Parliament and Westminster Abbey stood gracefully surrounded by the greenery of a large
park which had replaced the old buildings, such as Scotland Yard and other government offices.
Alongside the ancient shining cannons little concrete bunkers were in evidence. These were the mammoth
outlets for the air conditioning units under the ground.

I walked to the war monument in the middle of Whitehall. A couple of security guards stood outside.
"Yes, sir?' said one of the large fellows.

‘Dr Warboys. I have a meeting with the Minister of Defense at 10.30,' I said.

‘Running late,’ the guard smiled as he checked a list. 'Dr Warboys. Fine.'

He opened a door and I stepped into the lift. It went down and down into a huge rabbit warren of
government offices. Across the central hall another lift led straight into a vast conference room. Sitting at
a large oval table were the Minister of Defense, the Chief of Staff and Sir John, with others I didn't
recognize. The Chief of Staff was doodling away and Sir John was watching him as I stepped in.

"Ah, Dick,' said Sir John, getting up from the table and coming over to me. Under the briskness he still
looked strained.

‘Sorry I'm late,' I said contritely.

‘It's all right, I told Lomax that you would be your usual punctual self. Minister, may I introduce Dr
Richard Warboys,' said Sir John, addressing Sir Henry Lomax, the Minister of Defense.

*Good morning, Dr Warboys,' said the Minister curtly.

I sat down next to Sir John and acknowledged the head noddings of the other men sitting at the table.
“Gentlemen. In view of the potential gravity of the situation, I thought it advisable to keep our meeting
small in number,' said the Minister.

Everyone agreed.

‘I think we should decide this morning on a plan of action which can then be passed on to World Space
Headquarters. John,' said the Minister, turning in our direction, 'has any of the equipment in the DSP 15
been checked?'

‘In what sense?' asked Sir John.

Was it all functioning properly?' said the Minister.

"Well, we've run some preliminary tests and checked them against original data files. There's certainly
nothing missing in the sense of components.'

The Chief of Staff suddenly looked up from his doodling and said: "Well?'

"Well, until we have had time to run exhaustive tests, I can't be absolutely certain about a couple of
points.' "What do you mean?' said the minister.

“Just strange little things. The computer will not operate on a simple test problem, and also there's nothing
missing that could conceivably have been used to fire the rockets from outside.'



‘I don't understand the problem with the computer. Surely it could have been damaged?' said the Chief of
Staff.

"No, it looks more as if someone had wiped all the memories clean,' said Sir John.

'Ha But getting back to the fact that there is no missing equipment. You mean that the crew didn't
abandon ship?' said the Minister of Defense.

"No, the crew didn't abandon ship,' said Sir John quickly.

Unless they left it after the last firing, when it was automatically locked on a homeward course,' the
doodler said.

"Yes. That's a possibility, but think of the problems," Sir John replied.

'T agree, Sir John. But it is a possibility,' said the Chief of Staff.

‘But I don't take that argument very seriously, Bob,' said the Minister to the Chief of Staff. Then he turned
to Sir John. 'Just how do you reconstruct what might have happened?'

'T think the crew must have been taken forcibly from the ship, which was then deliberately set on its
homeward course.'

'How?' said the Minister.

By radio signals from outside,' said Sir John. 'From what equipment?' asked the Chief of Staff. 'It could
have been equipment possessed by an alien

intelligence,' said Sir John.

There was a stir around the table.

Tim. An alien intelligence,' said the Minister. 'What would you say to that, Bob?' turning to the Chief of
Staff.

Without looking up from his doodling: 'The sooner I get a scout patrol out on the far side of the Sun, the
happier I'll be.'

"You accept Sir John's reconstruction?' asked the Minister.

'Not unreservedly,' said the Chief of Staff, looking up. 'T'd rather say it's a fair possibility, and one we
ought to act on. Look, put it this way; sheer prudence demands we take this strange Fanshawe message
seriously. Although it's a bit lurid, isn't it,' he said, picking up a sheet of paper and reading: "'If this ship
returns to Earth, then mankind is in deadly peril. God help you!"

'Let's hope it isn't as bad as that,' said the Minister.

'"The one thing I'm really worried about is our lack of radar range. It just isn't enough, not to deal with a
full-scale attack from space. This is something I was talking to you about the other day, Sir John.' The
Chief of Staff got up and walked to a large wall chart showing the planetary orbits. He moved the pointer
around.

"What I'd like to do is to be able to cover distances as far out as Neptune at least -- in all directions,' he
said, decisively.

‘Just remind me on one point,' said the Minister. 'How is it that our radar beams aren't strong enough to
detect ships as far out as Neptune?'

Two reasons. We have to detect ships by radar, and radar is a two-way affair. The radio waves travel
outwards to the ship you want to find, the ship then reflects them, and you proceed to pick up these
waves. When you're guiding a ship the signals only have to go one way -- the waves only have to travel
from Earth to the ship, which makes life a lot easier. Besides, you can put a much bigger transmitter on
the ground and there are no limits on space or electrical power.'



‘I don't quite understand why we couldn't use massive ground-based radar,' said the Minister thoughtfully.
"Well,' went on the Chief of Staff, 'because of the Sun. It gives out strong radio waves which swamp weak
reflections from ships in its direction. Of course we can use ground-based stuff for the other directions,
but we're forced to put ships right on the far side of the Sun -- otherwise we'd be completely blind on that
side.'

‘Radar must always look away from the Sun, never into it,' said the Minister.

‘Exactly. It's the same for radar as it is for ordinary light -- the Sun is too bright,' the Chief of Staff said,
looking at me.

'l see,' said the Minister. 'Except for one point. Ships over on the opposite side of the Sun may be able to
cover directions we can't from Earth, but what good is that? Information can't be sent through to Earth
because the Sun lies in the way.'

'Tt sounds very convincing, but there is an answer,' said Sir John smiling.

'"There certainly is,' said the Chief of Staff, alert and precise. 'Our ships can send us information even past
the Sun, because that part of the job is only a one-way affair! It's the reflected signals which are the weak
ones.'

"Yes, yes. I see it now. The trouble with your patrol ships -- the ones sent to the far side of the Sun -- is
that even from there they can't see far enough into space.'

"Yes, that's it. That's it exactly. The trouble is we can't get much beyond Jupiter, and I'd really like to get at
least as far as Neptune,' said the Chief of Staff emphatically as he sat down.

'May I interrupt for a moment?' said Sir John. 'Dr Warboys here has been developing a new transmitting
valve, one that could greatly increase radar range.'

'Dr Warboys,' the Minister said, looking round at me.

'"Yes, Minister,' I replied.

"You have a new device that might be of help to us in this problem of radar penetration?' said the Minister.
I was about to reply when the Chief of Staff said: 'Excuse me a moment; would you mind if one of my
men sits in on this? If anything comes of the new transmitting valve, it'll probably be Colonel Rhodes
who'll have the job of getting it operational.’

'Certainly. Please call Colonel Rhodes,' said the Minister to his secretary. '"Tell me, why are you so keen
on Neptune as a yardstick in this business?' went on the Minister.

'Well, let us just suppose for a moment that a fleet of ships -- hostile ships if you like -- are really coming
in towards the Earth. Then obviously the terrestrial battle fleet must be got into defensive positions around
the Earth.'

'Obviously,' said the Minister.

'Well, you can't get upwards of five thousand ships out into space in five minutes.'

"How long d'you need in fact?' asked Sir John.

‘In a crisis, three days. For preference, at least a week,' said the Chief of Staff.

*And that means detection as far as Neptune?' said Sir John.

"Quite right, Sir John. Assume a steady deceleration is planned to give a shut-down in velocity by the time
the Sun is reached -- or the Earth, for that matter. If you work it out for yourself, you'll find it comes to
not much more than a week, a week from Neptune.'

I'll take your word for it,' said the Minister, looking at me.



I was about to ask what happened if there were creatures who could withstand higher forces of
deceleration, but thought better of it when I saw the expression on Sir John's face. At this moment the lift
doors opened and into the room stepped Colonel Rhodes.

‘Please take a seat, Colonel Rhodes,' said the Minister. "Dr Warboys has come up with a new transmitting
valve,' said the Chief of Staff, waving his hand in my direction. *Colonel Rhodes, it's possible that you'll
be involved in a space patrol in the near future. It will be of the utmost importance to have the best
possible radar range. Dr War-boys here may possess a device that will enable you to improve the range
we have at present,' finished the Chief of Staff.

‘Dr Warboys,' said the Minister, turning to me. 'Does your new transmitting valve differ in principle or
detail from existing devices?'

“It's a klystron tube modified in a somewhat unusual way. The increase of power output is surprisingly
great, more than I'd hoped for.'

"What's the amount of the increase?' the Chief of Staff asked.

‘I'd say a factor of thirty.'

"You mean your new transmitting valve is thirty times more powerful than existing ones?' said the
Minister.

“Yes,' [ replied.

‘Then why hasn't this valve been put into use?' said the Minister.

‘Lack of development,' I blurted out.

“That's ridiculous!'

"The new valve was being developed for the new radio the Space Council is building. Unfortunately the
whole project is suffering a period of disinterest from the various governments involved, so there is very
little money available,' Sir John explained my predicament.

"Well, this is most unfortunate, Dr Warboys,' the Minister said and added, turning to the Chief of Staff, 'Is
this what you're looking for?'

‘Absolutely. Just what we need. If it works, we'll be able to get quite close to the range we need.'

Can this new valve be fitted into our existing radar systems?' asked Colonel Rhodes briskly.

‘I don't see why not. But without precise details of the layout of your ships I couldn't say for certain.'
‘Gentlemen. I think this is a matter for Dr Warboys and Colonel Rhodes to thrash out by themselves
straight away,' said the Chief of Staff.

‘I agree entirely,' said Sir John.

'Good, then this is the situation. We can give you fellows a few hours -- no more -- to find out if this new
equipment can be fitted into an existing radar system. Now is there anything either of you wishes to ask?'
said the Minister.

"No, I think everything's quite clear,' I said.

"As soon as I can see the valve, we'll know what the situation is,' Rhodes said getting to his feet. I
followed suit.

"There's military transport available, Dr Warboys,' said the Chief of Staff.

"Thank you,' I said. It would save time if we were going to hurry back to Cambridge.

Everyone seemed to nod his approval and the signal for our departure.
'How serious is it?' Rhodes said as the lift descended. 'I just don't know, but you must have been involved
in a few panics in the past.' [ was noncommittal.



Rhodes was very direct. 'Ganges told me what you found before I came up to town. Do you have any idea
of what might have happened to Fanshawe and his men?'

'Not really. It's anyone's guess at the moment,' I said, dodging the question.

The lift came to its silent stop. The doors opened and Rhodes marched off down one of the many
corridors. About half-way down the passage he stopped, which gave me time to catch up. He was standing
waiting for another lift. When I arrived at this point the lift doors opened, revealing a peat big notice on
the inside which said:

VEHICLES. MILITARY PERSONNEL ONLY.

Rhodes smiled at me as I read the notice. New people to the ministry were always using the lift, so the
notice was stuck up.'

'"Why not put it on the wall outside the 1ift?'

'Simple. We'd have all the political big wigs wanting free transport facilities. That's why we had the lift
placed half-way down the corridor rather than at the ends with all the other lifts.'

'T suppose we all have our problems.'

Rhodes laughed. The lift stopped and we stepped out on to a roof top overlooking the Whitehall area. At a
quick glance it seemed to be the only building in the park.

A manually operated helicopter sat looking rather squat in comparison with the automatic computerized
ones.

'Is it still safe to fly these manually?' I said, climbing in.

'Well, we do have trouble with the civil authorities

over air corridors, but they are instructed to keep out of our manual flying zone. The police are the worst;
they seem to use all the available flying space whether it is necessary or not,' Rhodes said, firing up the
machine.

I noticed with amusement that he put on the protective flying helmet with radio transmitting equipment in
1it.

'Just in case the computers are re-routing helicopters. I can call them up and tell them there's a war on,’
Rhodes shouted above the noise.

A couple of police and ambulance helicopters narrowly missed us as we banked sharply and set off north
towards Cambridge.

Rhodes was saying something but I couldn't hear him. In desperation he handed me another helmet, and I
put 1t on.

At first there was complete silence. Rhodes looked at me. I shook my head negatively. He fiddled with
some knobs and then I was on the air.

The tall chimney of the University Library was now visible.

'My labs are to the West of that library spire up ahead,' I said.

"You mean on the vast science complex,' Rhodes said a little sadly.

'I'm afraid so; gone are the days of laboratories in dark smelly corners.'

'Hold on,' Rhodes said, with a mischievous smile on his face. The helicopter banked sharply and then
turned upside down. In this mad attitude we progressed to the landing area within the science complex.
Some students below pointed upwards. My head was full of blood, and my stomach began to feel rather
unsettled. Rhodes somehow managed to get us the right way up before landing.



'Sorry about that,' Rhodes said as we got out of the helicopter. My legs felt like jelly. 'T used to be in the
Acrobatics team when I first learned to fly,' came the sympathetic voice as Rhodes caught my arm.
'Which way?"' he said.

I pointed in the direction of the lab, and set off with Rhodes in tow.

The door was locked. No students here today, I thought crossly to myself and pressed the key reader with
my forefinger.

'Is that one of the new locks?' Rhodes asked, as the catch unmagnetized itself. I pushed the door open and
we went in.

'"Yes,' I said. "Very simple and foolproof.' There's a small computer next to the main one on the complex
here, which operates all or virtually all the locks.'

'What activates it?'

'Fingerprints, only those authorized have check prints in the computer which opens the door. Other people
pressing the button only ring the bell,' I said proudly.

"What happens if someone else makes you press the button?'

'We have an emergency procedure which alerts the guard and also photographs the intruders, together
with ,other subtle devices for identification,' I said, going over to my wall safe. Inside was the developing
part of the camera. I took the exposed film, tore off the developing papers and there was a picture of
Rhodes and myself.

'It's very good. Hope they hurry up and get these installed at the military base, then I'll know who's raiding
my drink cupboard.’

While Rhodes looked round the lab, I took the new valve and the transparent tube containing a metallic
wave guide, and started fitting them together.

'Fascinating place. Is this it?' Rhodes said, putting his finger on the tube.

"Yes. The object of this part of the equipment is to get the power matched into the wave guide.'

'Is the wave guide standard? I'm thinking about linking up with our aerial feed,' Rhodes asked.

'"There'll have to be a tunable coupling unit, but I can provide that,' I said.

"Good. There appear to be no insuperable difficulties in getting it into one of our space destroyers. How
long would it take to fit?' said Rhodes, doing some hand measurements.

The telephone started buzzing.

‘T'll get it,' said Rhodes. He flicked the switch and the Chief of Staff came up on the screen.

'Colonel Rhodes. We've decided to send your stoup out immediately with the new radar equipment.' “Yes,
sir.'

"Warboys, how long will it take you to fit?' 'Several days, I should think,' I replied.

"Fine, it is now 12.52. You will take off at 15.00 hours. Will this give you time?' said the Chief of Staff.
'Yes, I think so,' I said.

'Good. Colonel, you'll be responsible for anything Dr Warboys needs.'

'Yes, sir,’ said Rhodes, then the phone went dead. 'Amazing. What would happen if the valve is no good?'
[ said.

'"The Military don't worry about that. It's just got to work,' Rhodes said. He laughed at the look of dismay
and horror spreading on my face. I'd just realized they were going to fire me into space.



FOUR

RHODES left the lab shortly after the conversation with his Chief of Staff, and went to Mildenhall to
arrange for his own space craft to be brought by rail from

Stansted. This way the rest of his group would take off from Stansted while we could take off from
Mildenhall, allowing me more time to organize myself.

I put all the equipment that I'd need into a tool box and carefully packed up the valve and wave guides. I
wrote a message on the blackboard for my students telling them I'd be away for a few days, picked up my
tool box and guides and returned to College. Once there I hurriedly changed into a pair of working
overalls. As I finished zipping myself in there was a buzz from the door bell.

A young soldier stood to attention on the doorstep. *Are you ready, sir?' he said, as I opened the door to
let him in.

"Yes,' I said and after a glance round, we left. He had kept the helicopter running. I put the tool box
behind my scat and got in.

"Would you mind fastening your safety harness, sir?' said the driver as we took off.

"Why?' I said with curiosity.

"There's a strong wind coming up from the southwest, and my orders are to get you to Mildenhall without
incident,' said the young man.

At around two hundred feet I began to realize what he meant. The manual helicopters had no stabilizing
gyros on them and the strong wind was throwing us around like a small ship in a typhoon.

On arrival I felt very seasick. The driver put the helicopter neatly down almost on top of Colonel Ganges'
well-polished boots. Ganges took one look at me and then roared with laughter.

‘Man, you look terrible," Ganges said, still laughing.

"Thank you for those few words of encouragement,' I said, with as much coldness as I could muster.
Ganges just guffawed.

The destroyer stood on the concrete not far from the DSP 15 exploratory space craft. The crews of those
early ships must have had immense courage to fly into the unknown with a ship as frail as the DSP 15, in
comparison with Rhodes' bull-nosed ship. The driver stood a little way off with my tool box and guides in
his hand.

"How long do you think it will be before you have this valve gadget working?' Ganges said, as we moved
off towards the ship.

'I'm not sure. I suppose the slower we go the better,' I said, pondering on Ganges' expression.

‘Don't think you'll be traveling much slower than usual,' said Ganges.

"Why?' I said, wondering what traveling in a space ship would be like.

"The orders are to proceed as quickly as possible to your observing point along with the rest of the group
from Stansted.'

*Well, I suppose I'll be able to manage,' I said, beginning to feel a few misgivings at volunteering for such
an operation. Surely there were good army electronic engineers who could do this job. Did it really need a
physicist?

We reached the destroyer. Ganges stretched out his hand. 'Good luck.'

"Thanks, you shouldn't be so pessimistic about things.' He grunted.



The young soldier who'd brought me from Cambridge handed over my equipment. I stepped on to the
outside

lift platform, pressed the button and was shot skywards, which didn't help the sick feeling in my stomach.
‘Hello, Warboys,' said Rhodes, greeting me at the small hatch.

‘Here,' I said, handing him my gear. 'l think you'd better call me Dick.'

*All right, mine's Colonel.'

“You're what!' I said, banging my head against the low ceiling in the air lock.

‘My father was always very military minded. He was very disillusioned at having two daughters, so when
I came along he must have been very excited and confused, as my birth certificate is registered as
"Colonel Rhodes",' Rhodes said with a chuckle.

"What an introduction. Colonel Colonel Rhodes,' I said with great amusement.

Colonel led the way down a short passage that went from the outside door to the middle of the ship. Here
there was a lift that served the ship from top to bottom.

Colonel closed the gate and we moved leisurely upwards for a short distance.

"We'll drop your equipment off here,' he said, opening up the gate and moving into a largish room. This
was obviously the communications part of the ship. There was a computer, and masses of electronic
devices. 'T'll leave your stuff here,' Colonel said, pointing to a cupboard labeled 'Radar’.

He came back to the lift, and we continued upwards. "What happens if the lift goes wrong?' I asked. "Oh,
each floor has safety hatches so we can get from one to another without using the lift.'

The upward motion stopped and we walked into the main cabin. It was very simply laid out; one half of
the circle had contoured bunks with a small table of instruments and monitor screen. The other half of the
circle was covered by the main control panel. A movable chair

was fixed near the centre of the panel, which I assumed was the Captain's.

"This way, Dick,' said Colonel, taking me by the arm. I went with him, over to a large cabinet. 'Here we
have all the emergency equipment.' Inside were hanging space suits and helmets. Behind these were some
space bikes and jet packs for propelling oneself around.

"This is your suit and propulsion pack,' said Colonel, showing me a single dull grey suit and black pack.
The others, both suits and packs, were white.

'Am I likely to need it?' I asked, fingering the rubbery material of the suit.

"No, but it's a precautionary measure we take; remember you're in military hands now,' he said with a
smile.

"What happens if there's a fire?' I said jokingly.

“You'll know about it. Bells ring and you grab your suit and get yourself plugged into the oxygen supply
as fast as you can.'

I looked at a junction box in the control panel that was labeled 'Oxygen'.

"Otherwise you'll get gassed. The first whiff of smoke and the nearest hydrant starts operating.'
‘Marvelous. So you don't do any live cooking?' I said, looking around while the crew went about their
jobs taking no notice of my naive questions. "What are those?' I said, pointing at some metal discs high up
in the ceiling.

"For getting at the armory. Torpedoes mainly, but there are some side arms and grenades,' Colonel said, as
he checked some instruments on the control panel.

"Torpedo tubes. Are we carrying them?' I asked.

“Certainly,' came the reply.

‘Five minutes to zero,' said one of the crew. Rhodes nodded in the man's direction, and then went over to
the bunks.



"This is very simple,’ Colonel said, starting to fasten me down on one of them with cross straps. The other
crewmen came over and lay down on their bunks. I noticed that they only used one stomach strap instead
of the three I was held down by.

"This button here alters the height of the head rest. This one turns you around, and this one raises or
lowers your feet,' Colonel said, pushing the various buttons he was talking about. The bunk rode up and
down like a horse on the run.

Colonel left me in approximately the same position as I'd started in, facing towards the control panel. He
walked across to his chair and settled himself in. The chair in fact turned out to be a bunk, for the back
rest folded flat, followed by the foot rest coming up level. 'You see, Dick, it's all very civilized,' he said,
swinging himself round as a child would.

I pressed the head rest button curiously. Slowly my head came up so I could get a better look at the cabin.
"Two minutes to zero,' crackled a voice, which resounded round the metal walls. Suddenly I felt as though
I couldn't breathe.

‘It's all right, Dr Warboys. We've just changed over to our own oxygen supply,' said a voice near me. |
nodded and wondered what I must have looked like to promote this piece of information.

"What do you do?' I said feebly.

‘I'm the communications officer,' said the young man lying on the bunk next to me.

‘Zero,' crackled the voice out of the intercom.

I felt as though I was rising in an ultra fast lift. Then suddenly as if someone was slowly flattening me
with a giant press.

I must have blacked out, for the next thing I remember was everyone busily going about his duties.
"Whew, I'm glad that's over,' I said, unbelting myself.

‘It's always like that the first trip. Be careful, you'll find walking a little strange,' Colonel said.

I swung my legs off the bunk and stood up. My legs just folded under me and I grabbed at the bunk.
“You all right?' Colonel said, beginning to get up from his chair.

I nodded and tried again. This time everything worked, although I reeled towards the control panel like a
drunk.

‘It may be a bit of a consolation to know that takeoff never gets much better however long you're in the
game. Here, take a look at the Earth,' said Colonel putting a picture up on one of the monitors. From
somewhere behind me I felt a chair pushed under my unsteady seat.

“Superb. The delicacy of colors,' I said after a long studied look. I felt as though I might never feel real
ground under my feet again.

"Yes. Photographs never seem quite the same. Cloud, desert, pole-caps and oceans. You'll find it looks
even better on the way home,' Colonel said with a twinkle in his eyes.

‘T'll bet,' I said fervently. Colonel proceeded to flick some switches.

‘Redscout calling Edelweiss. Redscout calling Edelweiss. Over,' said Colonel.

A moment later a Germanic voice came crackling back. "Edelweiss receiving you, over.'

‘Edelweiss. Your instructions are as follows. Take the group at maximum speed to heliocentric longitude
217°, centi-astronomical units 92. I'll follow a day behind.

Over,' said Colonel.

‘Edelweiss calling. Group to Helio 217. Cow 92. What's wrong, Redscout? Got a weak stomach? Over,’
came the crackling reply.

‘Stomach O.K. Job to do. Get on course. Roger,' said Colonel, flicking the switches back into position. Tl
be accelerating at normal gravity, 1 gravity instead of the usual operational 1.5 gravities to give you the
best conditions for working. But I'll be hooking the old bus inside Venus, so we're going to fry, in spite of



the air conditioners. They aren't very good in these fast destroyers, I'm afraid. Everything has been cut
down for the sake of speed.'

"Fine. Can I go and have a look at the works downstairs?' | asked, wondering what Colonel meant by
frying.

“Certainly, you go ahead, and if you want me there's an intercom on the wall by the door. Otherwise the
ship's yours at the moment.'

I went over to the lift. It shot down and upset my stomach yet again. I wondered whether it was really
absolutely necessary to send me in the lift to the bottom of the shaft while under acceleration. The door
opened and I was in the communications room. Life felt reasonably good now, or at least till I got the
back off the radar control unit. Typical, I thought; although there was an instruction card, someone had
done repairs ignoring the color coding used to distinguish parts.

A couple of hours later, or at least that's what it felt like, as my watch had suffered in take off, I was
beginning to see where [ was going and it didn't take me long to get the valve wired up. The bigger
problem was going to be the tunable coupling unit for the aerial feed.

The lift doors opened and Colonel Rhodes came in. "How's it going?' he asked.

*Well, if your electronics engineers stuck to the proper color coding, life would be that much simpler,' [
said.

‘Sorry about that. I see you're sorting things out though. How are you finding it down here?'

"Hot, but I've been so busy I've not had much time to complain,’' I said, suddenly realizing that I was
sweating like a rainy day and there were wet patches on the floor.

I stood up easing my back into a more comfortable position. 'What's the time?'

‘Earth time. Around 03.00 hours."'

"Grief! How long have I been down here?'

"About eight hours or so. How much longer do you think you'll be?'

"An hour or two. Strange that I don't feel very tired.' "You shouldn't feel tired, you had a nice long nap at
lift off,' said Colonel with a smile.

"Now I've stopped work, I see what you mean about the heat. Do you feel it as much as I do?'

'I'm more used to putting up with it than you. Another few hours and we'll be over the worst. Better take a
look at Venus. She's not very far away -- starboard.'

Colonel turned on the monitor. '"There it is. The devil planet. Cold as Nordic hell on the outside, hot as
Mediterranean hell down at its surface.'

‘So those are the famous dry-ice clouds?' I said.

"Yes,' said Colonel. 'When you get under them the light seems to come at you from all sides. Nothing
seems right. Just great expanses of dusty desert, everything's unreal. Six months down there and you're as
nutty as a March Hare.'

I gave an involuntary shiver and got back to work. "Message from Edelweiss, sir. Squadron nearing
rendezvous,' came a voice from the intercom.

‘Good, better contact Edelweiss. Tell him we're nearing rendezvous point,' said Colonel.

‘I'll be ready soon,' I said, having found a place to cut in the tunable coupling unit.

'Good. Do you feel hungry?' asked Colonel as he got into the lift. I nodded and the doors closed.

I suppose it took me about an hour or so to fix the coupling unit. When all the bits and pieces had been
tidied up, I wrote on the color chart:

'"'WORK THIS ONE OUT".



"Finished?' Colonel inquired, as I emerged from the lift.

‘T hope so. Where's this food you were talking about?' "Here,' he said, pointing to a couple of delicious
looking blue and yellow tablets.

"What are they?'

‘Steak and chips. Double rations?'

"How about liquid?' I said, swallowing the pills. A crewman handed me a container with a tube coining
out from the top. I sucked and to my delight it really was hot sweet coffee.

‘Do you think you'll be able to give me distance and speed?' Colonel asked.

‘Certainly. But one thing bothers me. Not the equipment, but the way you military people do your sums.
You ask me for radar detection out to Neptune. It seems strange to me how you can be sure that's really
far enough. Any craft coming into our Solar System must begin deceleration at a distance far out beyond
Neptune,' I said.

‘Fair question. In fact almost a hundred times farther out. By the time a ship reaches Neptune we expect it
to have checked speed to about three per cent of light,’ said Colonel, looking at the monitor.

*So the additional deceleration as the ship comes in to Earth cuts the speed right down to nothing at all, I
suppose?' I mused.

"That's right.'

"Then you must be working on the basis of a steady deceleration of about 1 gravity. If we were really up
against something unusual, how can you be sure that the space crafts we might be dealing with can't
manage a deceleration of 10 gravities?'

"What sort of creature could stand up to 10 gravities for weeks on end? They'd have to be very small
creatures!' Colonel said rather cynically.

“You mean a rat might be able to stand up to a big deceleration, but a rat couldn't design a space ship.'
"That's right.'

I found the radar aerial unit and turned everything on, so as to give it final adjustment.

‘T'll admit it looks like a good argument. I only hope it turns out as good as it looks,' I said thoughtfully,
helping myself to another sip of coffee, and watching the needles flickering and creeping up from zero.
"Edelweiss on the blower, sir. Says everyone is in position. He'd like a word with you,' said the
communications officer.

"Fine,' said Colonel opening up the channel and putting it on the intercom by flicking a switch in front of
him. "Redscout calling Edelweiss. Redscout calling Edelweiss, over.'

‘Hey, Redscout. Who in hell's name have they got in Huntsman? Over.'

‘I don't know. Over.'

‘Better find out. Sounds crazy to me. Over and out.' *Get me Huntsman,' said Colonel.

"Yes, sir. Redscout calling Huntsman. Redscout calling Huntsman. Over.'

Not a sound. Colonel looked round at everyone. ‘Redscout calling Huntsman. Over,' went on the
communications officer.

"Huntsman here. Tally ho! Excruciatin' speed. Over.'

‘Carry on, Huntsman. Over and out.' Colonel flicked the switch and turned with an enormous smile on his
face. 'How on earth did old Ganges get himself into this show?"

‘I should imagine by his quite infallible recipe of cutting through red tape,' I said, laughing.

"Big flare on the Sun, sir,' said a voice from beside me. 'Everyone into the protection compartment, don't
waste time,' Rhodes yelled, dragging me with him.

Once the heavy door closed we looked like pilchards in a can.



"We're surrounded by thicker material here to give us protection from X-Rays. They're produced in the
skin of the rocket, by the storm of high energy particles from the flare,' said Colonel.

Suddenly there was a terrifying banging and clattering.

‘Lucky the spectrum cuts off pretty sharply. Otherwise this protection wouldn't be much use. Ever had a
ship completely cooked by a really bad storm?' I asked.

“Charlie Odgers and his crew were badly burned in a big storm three years ago,' one of the crew piped up.
The dials on the wall were beginning to dance.

"Near sunspot maximum, things can be pretty dicey. Here it comes,' said Colonel, looking at the dials
where the needles were beginning to bang up against the maximum stop. 'We'll just have to sweat it out
for a few hours until the monitors go off.’

I must have gone off to sleep, as the next thing I knew was Colonel shaking me. The crew had left the
compartment. I got up and moved into the main cabin.

Everything there was still and normal, but we were steaming wet as if fully clothed in a Turkish bath.
"Have you very much more to do?' asked Colonel. "No, just the final touches. Is the aerial turning?' 'Is the
aerial turning?' Colonel repeated.

“Aerial turning,' called a crewman.

I made my final adjustments.

"No signals?' asked Colonel.

"No, only from the rest of the group,' said the crewman.

"Well, she seems to have passed the first test. The power will come up gradually.' I began to tidy up.
Everyone gathered round the display tube.

“She's only at a quarter power,' I said, going over to where Colonel and the others were standing.
‘How far out are we going, would you say?'

"A bit beyond Saturn.'

About twice our normal range. There doesn't seem to be much out there,' said Colonel.

‘I'm not so sure, sir. Look over here,' said one of the crewmen. 'l thought I saw a spot, but it could be just
noise.'

We followed his finger.

‘I don't see anything, but your eyes are probably better than mine for this sort of thing,' said Colonel.
The power gauge was now showing half power.

‘I think there is something,' said the communications officer excitedly.

“Yes, my God. I can see it now,' said Colonel. "It's breaking up -- into score of blips, sir.'

"The transmitter is now at full power,' I said. 'How many dots?' Colonel's voice barked.

‘Difficult to say, sir, but a lot. Could be a hundred, could be thousands. Can't say, sir.'

‘It's a fleet of ships,' I said, amazed.

*And not disposed to be friendly either, Dick.'

"How do you figure that?' I said, studying the display tube.

Colonel put his finger on the tube. 'Look where they're coming in. Bang in the plane of the planets, bang
in a direction opposite to Earth.'

"You mean they're coming into Earth right out of the direction of the Sun?'

“Yes, just like our great-grandfathers used to do in the old air battles. Can you give me coordinates?'
Colonel said, turning to a crewman.

‘I've been checking. They're spreading out between heliocentric longitudes 33.5 to 44,' came the reply.
Colonel wrote down Helio 33.5 to 44 on a piece of paper.

*2793 centi-astronomical units, sir.'



Colonel wrote this down too. 'Dick, can you give me their speed? That's the critical thing.'

*A bit above 12,000 miles per second,' I said, working madly at the calculation.

‘Impossible!'

"No,' I said, rechecking the figures.

*What does it mean, sir?'

‘It means the creatures in those ships are taking a steady deceleration not of 1 gravity but of 3 gravities.
And they've been taking it for several weeks on end,' I said, looking once more at my calculations.
‘Can't understand it,' Colonel muttered. 'Only little creatures could take 3 gravities continuously. There's
something wrong, somewhere.'

Nothing's wrong,' I said. "We now know that rats can build space craft.'

Colonel looked at me, and then at the radar screen. "Get me Earth,' he said quietly.

FIVE

It took nearly half an hour to make contact with Earth, and we were all thoroughly tense and irritated by
the time we heard a crackling voice that sounded very far away:

"Hello, Redscout. World Space Control here, over.' ‘Hello, Space Control, where the devil have you been?
Over.'

‘Sorry, Redscout. Equipment malfunctional, over.'

‘Damned fools, always having servicing problems,' Colonel said to us in the ship. 'We have contacted
enemy fleet coming in at 2793 centi-astronomical units, over.'

"How many?'

"Couldn't say, except that it's a large number.' *Are you absolutely sure of this?'

"We've recalculated and there is definitely an alien force coming in towards Earth. And they are
decelerating at 3 gravities.'

‘Impossible!'

"We've been watching them for over an hour now. Dr Warboys and I agree that they are coming in at 3
gravities.'

There was a moment's silence. Lots of static. Then a voice said: 'Hello, Redscout. This is Lieutenant
General Sir Robert Milner.'

*Chief of Staff,' Colonel said to me.

"Colonel Rhodes, are you certain of this? Over.' *Sir, we have checked and rechecked and there is no
doubt about it, over.'

‘Right. The various destroyer groups up now will have to make a stand while we get the main world fleet
off the ground.'

'0.K., sir. Message understood. What about Warboys?' *Can't be helped, do your best. Over and out,' said
the Chief of Staff.

‘I'm sorry, Dick,' said Colonel. He looked strained. ‘Don't worry. Your Chief of Staff made up my mind
for me. Are we fully operational now?'

"Well. It will take them about three days to get the whole fleet up. Our job will be to observe, pass back
information.'

"What usually happens to the forward fleet?'



"We've never had to find out, but in this case we keep out of the way for as long as possible.'

I felt a little sick. Military men are perhaps reasonably conditioned to dying, but to a civilian the idea of
one's corpse floating round in space doesn't really appeal.

Colonel had a large map of our solar system illuminated on the wall.

"One thing that strikes me is these enemy ships will be far more vulnerable than yours,' I said, looking at
the map. "Hm. You're probably right.’

"How will we fight?' I asked, trying to break into the train of thought that would be running through
Colonel and the crew's minds.

"There's only one thing we can really do -- dispose our forces in a tight ball, between Venus and Mars,
with Earth more or less in the centre,' Colonel said, indicating on the map with his finger. 'The idea is to
keep the enemy on the far side, so he has to cover more distance than we do.'

"Where does this leave us?' I asked.

"Well, the enemy is nearly inside the orbit of Jupiter. We are on the far side of the Sun -- about here,'
Colonel pointed. By now I should think they'll have withdrawn half the other forward groups, back
towards Earth.'

"Which means that we're going to be taking the brunt of everything?' I said, realizing more fully what was
happening.

"Yes,' said Colonel philosophically.

"These torpedoes, are they any good?'

‘I shouldn't think so. If these fellows can decelerate at 3 gravities then they can probably outshoot us, but I
think we might give them a bit of a surprise,' Colonel said with a smile. 'Where are they?'

"They're coming round the Sun, sir,' said a crewman from the radar screen.

"Well, they're not missing out on this trick. They're coming up to see if anybody's here.'

I looked at the screen.

"That's it,' said Colonel snapping his fingers. "They're going to pick off our radar outposts -- that's us. I'd
say we've got about five hours before they're on to us.'

“"What's to be done, sir?' said a crewman.

"There's one chance. Dick, do you think you could do a bit of wizardry with electric circuits in our
torpedoes?' "In what way?' I asked.

‘To make a whole salvo hunt together, instead of each torpedo hunting singly, one at a time.'

"How do you mean?'

‘I want to attack a single target with a full broadside and I want it done like this. If the first torpedo
misses, as it probably will -- I want it to feed information to the second one, so it won't make the same
mistake. If the second one misses then it must send all its information to the third -- and so on. It'll
enormously increase the chance of a hit first shot.'

"Why aren't your torpedoes automatically fixed up like this?' I asked.

"Normally it'd be too wasteful. It'll mean we fire off half our stuff all in one go.'

"Why do you want to do this, sir?' said a crewman.

‘I want to make the enemy think our shooting is a lot

better than it really is. I want a hit first shot -- whatever the cost in ammunition.'

"You're hoping that after that they might leave us alone?' "Right. Can you do it, Dick?'

‘I can try,' I said.

The crew members found a ladder and opened up one of the hatches in the ceiling. One of them was sent
for my tool box. All equipped, I climbed up the ladder and through the hatch. I looked for the service
card; what I needed was an inter-connection between the torpedo and the radar equipment. At length |
found what I wanted. There was a link between the two. Whoever designed the torpedo equipment had



had this in mind, as the links were there but not connected up. The torpedoes were so designed that, once
the torpedo had been fired, it was fed information about the target by radio waves from the ship, which
was, in turn, picking up information on its radar equipment. Now I could also arrange an over-riding
signal from the torpedoes in sequence.

The problem had turned out to be easier than I had hoped.

I was two hours cooped up in that small space, tense and hot, but with a hope at least. At last I climbed
down the ladder. Below all the crew were wearing their silver space suits. Colonel indicated my suit,
which was lying on a bunk, and one of the crew came over to help me on with it and set up my respirator.
"How did it go?' Colonel's voice came through the headpiece.

"Not quite perfect, but I think there should be some fireworks.'

*Good enough,' said Colonel.

I moved over towards the radar screen. Colonel got up and came over to join me. There were eight blobs
of light approaching us at high speed.

“Shall I try the radio, sir?'

"No.'

‘Torpedo coming in to port,' came the call from the communications officer.

The monitors flashed, and then the whole ship did a bit of an Irish jig.

I picked myself up off the floor. Colonel was still standing on his feet. I couldn't understand that.

A miss, but not by much,' he said, going over to the flight control panel.

‘I'm taking her in.'

Suddenly the whole of my headpiece was full of static and weird babblings. I shook my head, but the
sound didn't go. The ship lunged again, and then it felt as though we'd done a complete somersault.
"They're getting too near. I daren't risk closing any further. All ready for firing?'

‘Yes, sir.'

“Setting -- Green 19.113 -- Red 472.6 -- Yellow 9,3001. Rates -- 0.4467 -- 0.0133 -- 0.2426,' said one of
the crew watching the dials.

"Fire,' Colonel shouted. I shook my head as the noise of Colonel's voice plus the babbling became even
more oppressive. The destroyer checked for a fraction of a second as the torpedoes left the ship.
Suddenly I was flung back on the floor. Not by an explosion, but by Colonel changing course. He was
trying to outmanoeuvre the enemy destroyers. Then the severe pressure of acceleration at around 5
gravities stopped.

"Are you all right, Dick?' said Colonel.

"The way I feel, it wasn't worth while,' I said, picking up my bruised body off the floor.

"Come and take a look.'

I went over to the radar screen and had a look. There were only seven ships.

‘Only seven ships,' Colonel said, slapping me on the back.

"Good.'

I still felt violently sick. Someone shouted. They were coming in again. Colonel fired the second salvo,
and again that agonizing acceleration.

*Sir, there's another fleet coming in,' said Sparks.

I looked up from my undignified position on the floor. *Another fleet!" Colonel said.

"Yes, sir. Coming in at heliocentric longitude 45 °.' The ship throttled back, which allowed me to move
around.

‘That's damned queer,' Colonel said. 'One fleet coming in from port and the other from starboard, and
we're smack in the middle.'

"What's so odd about that?' I said feebly.



*Well, this second fleet must have been out of radar contact with the first, the Sun was between them.
We're going to be crushed between the two.'

Everyone looked inquiringly at Colonel.

*Signal the information back to Earth," he said to the communications officer.

"So we're finished,' I said, realizing that as every minute went by the possible chance of our survival
diminished.

I'm sorry, Dick. It was the best I could do,' Colonel said, turning to his Sparks. '"How many ships are
answering the transponder?'

"About 217, sir,' came the reply.

"They might as well save lives,' said the Colonel rather gloomily.

The ship started spinning as a torpedo exploded near by. Then another explosion. At the third explosion
everyone was thrown from one end of the cabin to the other.

The instrument panel shorted out, and the lights went,

*"We've been hit, sir.'

Colonel didn't have time to say anything as the ship was hit again. Everything disintegrated, the crew
went flying through space at different angles.

It is a strange sensation to spin slowly through space at a constant speed, which one doesn't feel.
Eventually I gave up the struggle to stabilize, and started to concentrate on myself. There didn't seem to
be any serious injuries. My main worry was having a damaged suit, but [ wouldn't be alive if the suit was
ripped, so I gingerly moved my limbs to see if any bones were broken and decided that I was only
bruised.

The battle, from what I could see from my strange topsy turvy flight through space, was still going on.
But strangely it looked as if the second fleet was attacking the first. Was that possible? It must be my
eyesight or some form of brain damage. An absurd fear was mounting in me that, in floating away from
the battle area, any chance of my being picked up was lost.

Suddenly a new problem arose. An alien ship coming straight at me. Well, that's it, I thought. But just as
suddenly as it appeared it vanished. A curious and sad thought struck me. I would have liked to have seen
the strange creatures inside before I passed on my way into the depths of our solar system.

As I spun round for about the millionth time, I noticed the dark shape of a ship lying not far off. My heart
missed a beat. There was a flash of light and something went zipping by. I waited for an explosion, but
nothing happened. I realized that the thing which had gone flying by was not a missile intended to destroy
me, but a life line.

The trouble was they'd missed, so the line was just out of reach. Another flash of light, and this time I
found the line between my legs. The lack of gravity and loss of normal coordination made the effort of
grabbing it monumental, but I slowly found a loop on my belt which opened and was able to attach the
line through it. About five minutes later I noticed I'd changed direction. The life line was pulling me
towards the ship. In my excitement at this discovery, I didn't question whether it was one of our fleet or an
alien craft.

The line pulled me nearer. Was it one of ours? It looked thinner; I wasn't sure. Then I knew; this wasn't
one of ours. The hatch that would normally be around the middle of the ship, was missing. This ship had
the opening very near the exhaust end, and as I drew closer, I saw that the torpedo tubes were not in the
nose section, but attached to the side. Inside my space suit [ broke out in a cold sweat.



The hatch was a large double-door affair. The line pulled me in, through the outer doors, and right up to a
point in the wall. The outer doors closed. An incandescent light glowed and I saw that the line had towed
me into a large airlock. I began to float slowly to the floor. As I undid my life line, gravity seemed to
increase gradually and my equilibrium began to come back. A few moments later a panel behind me slid
quietly open and my taut nerves gave a twinge of fear. [ walked unsteadily into another small cubicle.
Suddenly the floor seemed to come up at me, and I stumbled around trying to regain my balance. |
laughed nervously as I realized this was a high speed lift. It stopped. Another moment's delay, then the
panel slid back and I was looking into a brilliantly lit cabin at the alien crew. They moved forward. Some
were wearing silver-colored space suits, one was a brilliant emerald green color and one was golden. At
least they were about normal human height, but because of their dark visors, I couldn't see their faces. My
surprise at seeing human shapes rather than 'rats' steadied me, but [ was still nervous enough to jump
when the thing in gold came over to me, took hold of my arm and led me from the lift. It was not a
vicious authoritative grip, but more like a friendly gesture to a blind person. Once out of the lift the door
slid shut and I felt the fastener on my helmet being released. The chap in gold gave me a sort of O.K. sign
and I took the helmet off. I held my breath as the helmet came off, but I had to breathe and to my relief
the atmosphere seemed normal instead of the toxic mixture it might have been.

The whole crew began to take helmets off. They had human faces! I began to wonder whether they were
in fact part of the Earth's space fleet.

‘Selgain,' said the man in gold.

‘Hello,' I said, nervously bracing myself. They all looked curiously at me. The gentleman in gold went
over to a panel and pressed a button. A desk appeared. I was ushered over and invited to sit on a stool
which appeared to be attached to the desk. They all crowded round me and I began to wonder what they
wanted me to do.

The fellow in gold then started to point to his mouth and moved his lips as though he was speaking.

‘Do you want me to talk?' I said.

They all looked delighted.

‘I think I begin to understand,' I said, warming to the job. "You want me to talk, to see if you can find out
what language I'm talking in. Well, I don't quite know how you're going to do this, but I hope you can.
My name is Richard or Dick Warboys. I am a bachelor. I live in St John's College, Cambridge, England,
and work at the University there.' I stopped. As I'd been talking a printout machine had been working. At
a guess [ would think a computer was putting my speech patterns into numerical form. I talked on more
carefully and methodically. The chap in gold started studying the information. I looked round at the other
crew members. The fellow in the green suit looked extraordinarily young. Suddenly I realized that it
wasn't a man, it was a woman.

The fellow in gold took hold of a typing machine and started banging away on the keys. When he'd
finished the print-out shot out its reply. He read it and then did some more typing.

‘Selgain,' said the man, smiling. 'Greetings,' came his voice a fraction of a second later from the intercom.
"Greetings,' I said, which was followed by *Selgain'. The man in gold smiled and talked into the machine,
which said: "My name is Betelgeuse. This is Alcyone,' he brought the girl forward, she smiled. 'And this is
Rigel.' Rigel nodded. 'And these are the three M's.' The three strapping young men nodded and said
Selgain' as one man.

I nodded a greeting to them.

“You were very lucky,' said Betelgeuse, pointing to the belt on my space suit. 'It sent out a distress signal.'



I thanked my lucky stars. It must have been actuated automatically as I was ejected from the ship. 'Could
you pick up the rest of my crew?' I asked.

'We can try. Can you show me where you were hit?' Betelgeuse asked.

He handed me a pointer, and a picture of the area with the dead and exploded ships marked appeared on
an illuminated panel. From what I could remember we had been roughly at the point of a V. Our ships at
the bottom, one fleet to the left, and someone coming in from the right. I looked hard and eventually could
make out the original V. There at the bottom was marked an explosion.

‘Here, I think,' I said, pointing.

Alcyone and Rigel went over to the typing machine, and punched something out. The ship started to
move.

"We will make a circle of the area. Have you any idea of your speed at the time you were hit?'

"No,' I said. We might have been doing any speed at the time.

"Then we'll work on the speed you yourself were traveling at.'

We traveled a full circle without any success.

Betelgeuse looked at me. "We will go into the exact area, but I'm afraid that, if there isn't anyone there, we
must return you to Earth.'

"You will return me to Earth?' I asked.

"The Earth people are in great danger.'

‘I can see.’

‘Greater than I think you realize.'

"What do you mean?'

"When the time is right, you will know,' Betelgeuse said.

I wondered whether this was just a trick to find out about landing instructions on Earth. The intercom
started to crackle with static. I thought I heard something. There it was, the old 'mayday' distress signal.
"What does it mean?' asked Alcyone.

"The signal?'

"Yes.'

‘It means "Help me".'

“Very apt,' smiled Betelgeuse.

The signal kept getting stronger and stronger until we were almost on top of it. I watched a picture of the
space outside. The viewer scanned until it fixed on a dark patch. The dark patch became a wreck. Then I
saw it. A small image moved among the wrecked parts. Whoever it was had a space pack on his back, as |
could see small spurts of flame occasionally. It became apparent as we watched, that whoever it was out
there was making his way away from us.

"He's afraid of us,' Betelgeuse observed.

Not surprising,' I said.

"You want me to bring him here?'

“Certainly. As long as you don't hurt him.'

I watched as they linked the man up on what I assumed was their target scope. A small rocket suddenly
shot across the picture. Betelgeuse waited, looking a little tense.

"What's happened?' I said, trying to see what was going on outside.

‘He's avoided the line.'

Betelgeuse lined up the target on the scope and then fired another small rocket. It seemed to go up to the
target and then stop.

"You're watching a very simple little device,' Betelgeuse

said with a smile. 'Since he doesn't want to be rescued, we'll bring him in with a little pressure.'



"What exactly is it?'

"A line that's used to clear wreckage in space. The rocket head is programmed to do whatever you want.
You see it has arrived at its target, and it waits for further instructions. Now I turn on a strong magnetic
field.'

"What a marvelous toy,' I said.

“Certainly, but it does the job.'

Betelgeuse pressed a button and the fellow outside must have got a shock, as he started moving
backwards, but it wasn't long before the man was in the airlock and coming up in the lift.

The door opened, and I moved forward in front of Betelgeuse and his crew. My thoughts were right. I
moved in quickly. The man was holding a grenade. Before I could tackle him the man put the grenade
back on his belt. He came out of the lift and started removing his helmet.

*Couldn't kill you, Dick,' said Colonel Rhodes. 'Have they grilled you yet?'

No, they haven't. I hadn't even thought of that; they were going to return me to Earth if they hadn't found
anyone else,' I said.

"Fiddlesticks, it's just a trick to find out what our landing procedure is.'

"Well, Betelgeuse, what have you to say to my friend's accusation?' I said.

"We could land without much trouble, but it would mean panic and distress. You call Earth and find out
what they have to say.'

"What! Tell them to let you in. Oh, no!' Colonel said briskly.

Betelgeuse signaled something, and the ship started moving.

"What are you going to do?' I asked Colonel. "Nothing,' came the reply.

‘Betelgeuse, could I talk to Earth?' I asked.

"Of course.'

Colonel glowered.

I went to the communication console. 'Hello, Earth. Calling Earth, come in Earth, over,' I said. Then
static. I tried again and again.

"Earth here. Who are you? Over,' came a very weak voice.

‘Hello, Earth. This is Warboys from Redscout. Over.' ‘Congratulations, we thought you'd had it.' There
was a moment's silence.

Warboys,' came the voice of the British Chief of Staff. "What happened to Colonel Rhodes? Over.'
"He's here, but our ship was destroyed and we're now with the lead ship from the fleet that came in from
heliocentric longitude 45°. I'd like permission for us to land in England. Over.'

"Our thanks to your rescue ship for saving the rest of our fleet. You have clearance to land. Over.'
"Thank you. Over and out.'

"Well, well, world control sounds happy for once,' said

Colonel. T wonder if any of us know what we're in for.'

I stared hard at Betelgeuse. He looked back politely.

SIX

For an hour or more I watched Colonel wander purposefully around the cabin. It struck me as rather pig-
headed of him not to accept the situation and try to work within his present confinement. Betelgeuse and
his men, having set their ship's course, had left us alone in the main cabin and gone below to sleep.
‘How did you know about the rescue signaling device?' Rhodes suddenly said, turning on me.



"I didn't know we had one. They told me.'

"What do you mean, "they told me" ?'

"What I said. They picked it up and homed in on me,' I said, a little testily. I could see Colonel was unsure
of me. 'Do you think they've got me brainwashed or programmed?' I asked.

‘Dick, I'm uncertain of the whole situation. Here are these people who come out of nowhere, put an
aggressor to flight and then return us to Earth. I feel that it isn't natural.'

“You may be quite right, but at this point in time we know that they have fast ships and can out-shoot us,
but that they haven't tried to question us. Why don't we let them return us home and brain-wash some of
our politicians rather than ourselves?'

‘Maybe you're right,' Colonel said with a smile. 'But I'm still extremely suspicious of all this good will.'
“You should be. That's what you have been trained for. I'm suspicious too, but there are several points that
need clearing up before I call them enemies. Why do they look exactly like us? They are rather big to
withstand deceleration of continuous 3 gravities, which may mean they are technically far in advance of
us, and it seems rather unnecessary to use a trick to find out landing procedure. Surely they could just call
up the rest of their fleet and move in, instead of taking the lead ship to Earth, which, for Betelgeuse, could
mean suicide.'

"That makes sense. Do you think we should sit tight?' *Yes, and I suggest that, instead of landing at World
H.Q., we go back to Mildenhall.'

"We can't do that!" he said.

"Why not? If your suspicions about Betelgeuse are correct, then all he'll get is the landing instructions for
one base in England, not the complex landing instructions of World H.Q., which would be far more useful
to him in the event of invasion.'

I think it's a weak argument, but it would be rather a scoop if they were on our side,' Colonel said,
warming to my idea. 'Yes, well, Betelgeuse will have to make something go wrong during the final
descent.'

‘I'm sure that can be arranged,' I said, looking round the cabin. 'Do you think their ships are much more
advanced than ours?'

‘By watching the way the ship is operated, I'd say they're quite advanced. The questions would be
unending. What kind of propulsion do they have? How do they get such good movability in such a large
ship?' Rhodes said, looking round. 'They have a superior artificial gravity device.'

“Simple questions to answer,' Betelgeuse said, coming out of the lift. 'We normally use what you'd call
nuclear fission for power, but we switch over to Solar power if we are close enough to a bright star or sun.
The improvements in manoeuvrability have been made by doing away with manual control, except in
emergencies, and computing tactical movements,' Betelgeuse said, going over to the control and lighting
up a large map. We went over to join him. 'It is time to check the position of my fleet.'

"Why, are you worried that we might attack you?' Colonel said.

*Not at all. Your forces have been recalled out of the area, which is a wise decision.'

Colonel was silent. The expression on his face made me wonder whether he was feeling a little subdued at
the thought that his ships were outclassed. It was a natural feeling for a military man.

‘Are you expecting more trouble?' I asked, breaking the silence.

“Trouble for you, I think. If they get by my defenses, they'll burn you up.'

"What! Set the Earth on fire?' I said.

Not only the Earth, but everything surrounding it,' Betelgeuse said, with a hardness in his voice.

‘Is that why you're here -- to help us?' Colonel said.

"To warn Earth, not to protect Earth. I hope that my warning comes early enough, so that you can build
space craft similar to this one and leave your homes. That's your only chance of survival.'



*That ridiculous,' Colonel said.

‘It may seem so, but we'll see.'

"‘But supposing you are right,' I said, 'how did this happen?'

Betelgeuse laughed. 'Well, for many years now we have been fighting a space war; and recently, over the
past thirty years or so, alien space ships have appeared. You can imagine what was 